

Analyzing LGBTQ+ Acceptance in The Netherlands: Perspectives from inside the community

By

Daniel Brokke

1251775

Master Thesis

Sociology: Contemperary Social Problems
Faculty of Social Sciences
Universty Utrecht

d.brokke@students.uu.nl

Supervisor: Paulina Pankowska

Second Assessor: Anne van der Put

June 24th 2024



Abstract

Acceptance towards LGBTQ+ individuals is stagnating. Quantative data shows that less people are accepting towards the LGBTQ+ movement. Theory suggests that politics and power mechanisms are responsible for this phenomenon. However, qualitative research exploring perspectives from within the community to confirm this is lacking. Therefore this study aims to shed light on how different identities within the LGBTQ+ community look at this phenomenon. A qualitative analysis of eighteen semi-structured interviews was conducted to gain insight on how these changes are experienced by the LGBTQ+ community itself, how it should be solved, and whether the discourse of the 2023 dutch elections had a significant impact on the experience on acceptance from the perspective of the LGBTQ+ community. The main outcome of this study was that LGBTQ+ individuals experience a significant stagnation in societal acceptance, which is particularly pronounced among gender diverse individuals compared to sexually diverse individuals. This stagnation is attributed to negative political discourse, particularly from right-wing parties, and systemic issues within healthcare and education.

Keywords

LGBTQ+ Acceptance, Netherlands, Same-sex Marriage, Political discourse, Transgender rights, Public Opinion, Emancipation.

Ethical statement

Study: Analyzing LGBTQ+ Acceptance: Perspectives from inside the community

Principal investigator: D. Brokke

Supervisor: Paulina Pankowska

The study is approved by the Ethical Review Board of the Faculty of Social and Behavioural Sciences of Utrecht University. The approval is based on the documents sent by the researchers as requested in the form of the Ethics committee and filed under number 24-1797. The approval is valid through 30 June 2024. The approval of the Ethical Review Board concerns ethical aspects, as well as data management and privacy issues (including the GDPR). It should be noticed that any changes in the research design oblige a renewed review by the Ethical Review Board.



Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Keywords	2
Ethical statement	2
Introduction	5
Frontrunner	5
The current state of LGBTQ+ acceptance	5
Relevance	7
Scientific	7
Societal	8
2. Theoretical framework	10
2.1 Social Constructionism.	10
2.2 Critical theory	11
2.2.1 The weaponization of gender	
2.2.3 The Discourse as Knowledge and Power theory	12
2.3. Social Conflict Theory	14
4.Methology	15
4.1 Qualitative research methods	15
4.2 Semi-structured interview	15
4.3 Participants and accessibility	17
Data-Analysis	18
Ethics	19
5. Results	20
5.1 Describing acceptance towards LGBTQ+ individuals in the Netherlands	20
5.1.1 The experienced state of LGBTQ+ acceptance in The Netherlands	20
5.1.2 The experienced difference in acceptance towards sexually diverse and gender dive	
5.1.3 Geographical differences	
5.1.4 Religion	24
5.2 Emancipation regarding LGBTQ+ individuals	25
5.2.1 Ideal form of emancipation regarding the LGBTQ+ individuals	25
5.2.2 The current state of emancipation regarding LGBTQ+ individuals	26



5.3 Political influence	27
5.3.1 Political influence in general	27
5.3.2 The influence of the 2023 Dutch elections	28
5.4 Policy	28
5.4.1 What could be better?	28
5.4.2 policy in education	29
5.4.3 policy regarding gender affirming healthcare.	30
Discussion	32
Conclusion	32
Limitations	33
Policy advice	34
Healthcare	35
Education	36
References	38
Appendix 1: Code Book	46
Appendix 2: Questionnaire	47
Appendix 3: Ethical considirations	49



Introduction

Frontrunner

Ever since the legalization of same-sex marriages in 2001, the Netherlands have been known as a country tolerant and accepting to individuals who can be categorized as LGBTQ+.¹ (EqualDex, 2023) Since January 1998, the Dutch law has been granting registered partnerships to same-sex couples as an alternative to marriage. Not long after, on April 1st, 2001, the Netherlands was the first country in the world to acknowledge same-sex marriages (Pew Research Center, 2023). On the same date the Netherlands was quoted by the BBC as: "Having a traditionally liberal attitude towards gays" (BBC, 2001). Since the legalization of same-sex marriages in Netherlands other, mostly European and American, countries have followed in the footsteps of the Netherlands (Pew Research Center, 2023).

The current state of LGBTQ+ acceptance

Research done focused on whether people around the world think that homosexuality should be accepted by society or not. This question, which has been a long-term trend, was first asked in the U.S. in 1994 and globally in 2002. The full question wording was, "And which one of these comes closer to your opinion? Homosexuality should be accepted by society or Homosexuality should not be accepted by society". Overall, in the last few decades we see a rise in acceptance of homosexuality by people in many countries across the world. Findings from a survey conducted among 38,426 people in 34 countries note a double digit increase in acceptance between 2002 and 2019 for: the United Kingdom, Canada, Argentina, the United States, Mexico, Japan, South Africa, South Korea, India and Kenya.

While we see an increase in acceptance, it should also be noted that a great global divide persists. The rapport noted that acceptance is influenced by age, education, income and, in some instances, gender. In addition, religion and its importance to people's lives shape opinions on acceptance. The rapport also noted the role of political ideology in shaping opinions. In many countries, people on the political right are les accepting that those on the left and are therefore less accepting of homosexuality than people on the left. Attitudes on this issue are also correlated with the wealth of a country. Generally speaking, people in

-

¹ According to the University of Oxford Medical Sciences Divisions, the abbreviation LGBTQ|+ is an umbrella term for individuals identifying as: lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, questioning, intersex, asexual and pansexual. (University of Oxford Medical Sciences Divisions, n.d.)



wealthier and more developed countries are more accepting of homosexuality than those in countries that are less developed. (Pew Research Center, 2020).

Even though acceptance levels seem to be on the rise, the feelings of acceptance among people who identify as LGBTQ+ are stagnating. A report by the Dutch Social and Cultural plan bureau (SCP) has noticed a stagnation of feelings of acceptance in the LGBTQ+ community. The media has also been increasingly covering this issue since 2020 with headlines such as: "This is why LGBTQ hate is growing in the Netherlands", (NPO 3FM, 2023) "Acceptance of the LGBTO stagnates" (RTL Nieuws, 2022) and "Dutch people have become more positive about LGBT individuals, but acceptance is stagnating" (NOS, 2022). More specifically, while the population's views on various LGBTQ+ themes have been increasingly positive in recent years, there is at the same time, limited acceptance concerning the more visual forms of homo- and bisexuality, for example: holding hands or kissing in public. Adding to this, we see that the Netherlands has dropped in the world ranking that rates the legal and policy aspects of LGBTQ+ emancipation worldwide. This ranking, called the "rainbox" index, measures European countries according to law and policies focused on issues such as equality and non-discrimination of LGBTQ+ people (ILGA-Europe, 2021). Thus, while the Netherlands was once a pioneer, and the first country to open marriage to same-sex couples, it no longer ranks among the international leaders regarding LGBTQ+ rights, falling to twelfth place (ILGA-Europe 2021). This mainly has to do with the fact that transgender and intersex individuals have less established rights than homo- and bisexual individuals. One of the main examples for this is the fact the Dutch law lacks an explicit ban on discrimination against this group (ILGA-Europe, 2024).

According to the 2022 LGBTQ+ monitor report by the SCP, a negative pattern can be seen concerning the wellbeing of LGBTQ+ individuals between 15 and 34 years old. The report states that youth who can be classified under the LGBTQ+ umbrella are three times more likely to feel unhappy and experience more psychosomatic complaints and are about twice as likely to experience some sort of mental health problems than their heterosexual and cisgender peers (42% and 18%). Especially for people who identify as transgender, this also leads to worse socio-economic position in society. This group falls into a lower income group, has less wealth, and less often are homeowners (Huijnk, 2022). This decline is problamatic as there is a link between welbeing of LGBTQ+ individuals and acceptance. The lower the stigma, prejudice and/or discrimination against LGBTQ+ individuals in a country, the higher the wellbeing of LGBTQ+ individuals (Camp et al., 2020).



These insights underscore the importance of targeted research into how the LGBTQ+ community experiences these trends, particularly the factors contributing to a perceived stagnation in acceptance. This leads to the following research question.

Descriptive: What socio-cultural, political, and institutional factors contribute to the observed stagnation in feelings of acceptance among LGBTQ individuals within the Dutch population?

Relevance

Scientific

In previous research mainly quantitative data analyses were conducted. The SCP report mentioned above was based on periodic opinion-based research, which is a good basis for a trustworthy way to look at how the public thinks about certain subjects. However, as noted in the report itself, the barriers of quantitative research, and thus this report, is the absence of an answer to the 'why' question. This leaves a scientific gap for a qualitative research approaches on this subject. The SCP report also noted that there is a difference in the availability of data and research done on the acceptance of homo- and bisexuality vs. gender diversity. While research on homo- and bisexuality has a long history, research on transgender and gender diversity is scarce(Huijink, 2022) The few qualitative studies done often focus on specific subjects, for example: feelings of discrimination in context of the workplace (Gacilo et al., 2018) and LGBTQ perspectives druing Trump's presidency (Worthen, 2019). While useful, these studies do not provide a general, subjective persepective on the recent stagnation in acceptance in the Netherlands which could unlock valuable insights that could help promoting emancipation of the LGBTQ+ communinity in The Netherlands.

Concluding, most research papers focus on quantitative research regarding the feelings of acceptance in the community, but the reason 'why' often gets left behind. Without focusing on why the feelings of emancipation is stagnating (using qualitative approaches), the writing of decent policy to encourage feelings of emancipation is less likely to happen.

Addressing this gap through qualitative approaches can provide a deeper understanding of the underlying factors affecting feelings of emancipation. Understanding the 'why' behind the stagnation will provide insights valuable for developing policy initiatives.



By exploring these perspectives, this study aims to develop a understanding that can inform policy initiatives targeting the systemic barriers and social attitudes perpetuating this stagnation, leading to the following research question.

Policy Research question: How can policy initiatives effectively target and mitigate the systemic barriers and social attitudes that perpetuate the stagnation in feelings of emancipation among LGBTQ individuals within the Dutch population

Societal

In recent years, the political landscape in the Netherlands has seen intensified debates surrounding LGBTQ+ topics. These discussions have become particularly prominent during election periods, with various political parties expressing differing views on the matter. According to research by the University of North Carolina in Chapel Hill we see a connection between representation of the LGBTQ+ in politics and public acceptance of the LGBTQ+ individuals. In their research, Reynolds (2013) found that the presence of LGBTQ+ legislators is associated with greater public acceptance of gay individuals. This representation leads to increased acceptance, which in turn predicts the enactment of more progressive laws. This indicates that governments respond to shifts in public opinion. Given the outspoken stance of, arguably extreme, right-wing parties like Forum for Democracy and Partij voor de Vrijheid against what they term as "woke' and 'LGBTQ+ propaganda", one might anticipate that a prominent presence of conservative right-wing parties among legislators could negatively affect the discourse on LGBTQ+ issues.

In 2023, during the Dutch House of Representatives elections, a pre-election debate gained media attention when a non-binary individual confronted Thierry Baudet, leader of the right-wing FVD party, about his stance on LGBTQ+ issues. Baudet claimed not to remember what 'non-binary' means and concluded that non-binary individuals do not exist. This incident went viral, sparking various opinions on social media (NOS, 2023).

Other political parties have also shown negative attitudes towards the LGBTI+ community during the 2023 election campaigns. For example: the political party DENK made a campaign poster featuring various illustrations featuring rainbow covered services and a drag queen with the Dutch slogan "Zullen we weer gewoon doen?" (RTL Nieuws, 2023) which translates to: Is it time to act normal again? Political party Forum voor



Democratie (FVD) called out so called: "Woke and LGBTQI propaganda" on their campaign website. FVD calls for preventing the promotion of transgender propaganda to youth and opposes subsidies for LGBTQ+ education.

Human rights organization COC Nederland (Cultuur- en Ontspannings Centrum) has expressed their concern about the election results in 2023. Their main concern is the negative attitudes towards the LGBTQ+ community recently. The organization points out that the PVV recently voted against measures to address violence against the rainbow community, against measures to combat bullying in schools, and against embedding our human rights in the Constitution. (COC, 2023)

Focusing on the 2023 Dutch House of Representatives elections, unique insights can be gathered on evolving societal attitued towards acceptance towards the LGBTQ+ community. By examining this specific election cycle, this study aims to uncover how political party elections influence discourse on LGBTQ+ topics

These finding lead to the following explanatory research question.

Explanatory Research question: To what extend did the messaging and discourse of the 2023 Dutch election campaigns influence the perceptions and experiences of LGBTQ+ individuals regarding societal acceptance and emancipation in the Netherlands?



2. Theoretical framework

In this chapter we will look at scientific theories which will give us insights into certain theoretical mechanisms that could influence the feelings of acceptance among LGBTQ+ individuals.

In doing so, this chapter will examine three different theories: social constructionism, Critical Theory, and Conflict Theory.

2.1 Social Constructionism

In 1966 Peter L., Berger and Thomas Luckman introduced the theory of Social Constructionism. In sociological context the theory posits that the facet of our social reality, for example: concepts, beliefs, norms, and values, are constructed through a number of interactions between society's members, rather than there being an empirical or physical reality. The theory proposes that social reality is merely an outcome of different processes that are influenced by social structures (Berger & Luckmann, 1966).

Identifying as someone part the LGBTQ+ community can be seen as a social construct. The identification of, for example being gay, lesbian or transgender, is according to this theory a social construct. Looking at the identification of gender diverse individuals, West and Zimmerman (1987) see gender as an emerging of social situations as both an outcome and rationale for various social arrangements, and as a means of legitimating one of the most fundamental divisions of society. The same can be said for individuals who are attracted to the same sex and who society classifies as 'homosexual'.

According to social constructionism, sexuality and gender are created by society itself. While looking at gender, some think gender and biological sex are one in the same. However, West and Zimmerman (1987) claim that gender is not a personal trait, but an emergent of social situations used to construct perceived reality. Therefore gender is not real, but a performance of sociale constructed norms.

Social constructionism may help understand certain norms and beliefs in society that could negatively affect groups in society. Foucault states, institutions like religion, education and medical institutions can influence the norms, values and beliefs in society about sexuality and gender(Foucault, 1969).



The LGBTQ+ community, and espically individuals who fall under the transgender umberella, have been a scapegoat for some rightwing dutch parties such as the PVV and FVD and religion oriented parties like the SGP and Christenunie. With LGBTQ+ identities being socials constructs according to this theory, politics are able to shape opinions on the subject, which may be adopted by the public.

Social constructionism suggests that gender identities and sexual orientations are products of social interactions and institutions. Therefore, individuals whose gender identity challenges traditional norms may face greater societal resistance and stigma compared to those whose sexual orientation diverges from heterosexuality but aligns with their assigned sex. While sexual diversity also challenges societal norms, it often does not challenge the binary framework of gender itself. As such, assumptions van be made that societal acceptance and support for sexual diversity have shown more improvements in many societies due to emanciptation efforts, legal reforms, and shifting cultural attitudes. Therefore, drawing from social constructionism, we hypothesize that individuals whose gender identity differs from their assigned sex may experience lower levels of acceptance compared to individuals whose sexual orientation differs from heterosexuality but aligns with their assigned sex

This leads into the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 1: Individuals whose gender identity differs from their assigned sex experience lower levels of acceptance compared to individuals with sexual attractions differing from heterosexuality.

2.2 Critical theory

In 1937 the essay "Traditional and Critical Theory" was published. The essay coined a then new social theory which puts its focus on society and culture to look at certain power structures. Social problems therefore do not stem from individuals, but from social structures and cultural assumptions (Horkheimer, 1937). Multiple sociologists and philosophers have used this theory as the basis for explaining sexuality and gender.

2.2.1 The weaponization of gender

American philosopher and gender studies scholar Judith Butler wrote about factors influencing the perception of gender and sexuality. She argues that class, ethnicity and sexuality are factors that influences what the terms "men" and "woman" mean. Through this



idea she argues that gender is performative, which means being born male or female does not determine behavior, but people learn to behave in a certain way that fits into society. People will argue that the difference between man and woman is biological, and due to these biological differences, their different sexes should fall into certain social roles. This is called naturalisation, and the act of making something appear natural. If one falls into the correct roles they will be praised, but if not, they will be punished (Butler, 1988). This in turn creates another layer of control exerted by dominant societal structures. By defining rigid gender roles, those in power maintain control over individuals. This control extends beyond gender, as similar processes of naturalization have been used to justify racial hierarchies and discrimination (Wittig, 1980). Scientific racism was the pseudoscientific belief that human species can be biologically divided into distinct races, which in turn was used to justify social hierarchies and discrimination (Garrod, 2020). This concept of using supposedly biological differences to create and maintain power structures can be seen as analogous to how gender has been historically constructed.

In their book "Gender Trouble," Butler describes a historically epistemic regime, arguing that language and discourse create a framework through which sex and gender are understood. This often reinforces a binary view of gender and can lead to the marginalization of those who do not conform to traditional norms. They argue that sex and gender can only be seen as one and that sex, can only been seen through the lens of gender. Looking at transgender individuals and the idea of naturalization, according to Butler, people will have trouble accepting and or give equal rights because they fall outside the norm and are thus not natural. This could also be applied to the other labels of the LGBTQ+ community. Identifying as homosexual for example also falls outside the idea of the norm of society, and people will often see relationship between the same gender as not natural. There is a discongruence in our culture in which makes people in power determine what is natural and not.

2.2.3 The Discourse as Knowledge and Power theory

Michel Foucault used critical theory for his own theory on the link between knowledge and power. According to Foucault, power is based on knowledge and how one uses knowledge. When one has the power over knowledge, one can shape the meaning of this knowledge for one's own intentions. In other words, Foucault suggests that the truths of our lives do in fact not exist and are purely created through discourse (Foucault, 1969).



In an foucauldian analysis of homosexuality, Drazenovich propses that sexulality can be seen as a discourse. Discourses are social, political, and cultural arrangements of ideas and concepts through which the world is is communicated and constructed. Sexuality and gender, is something that is spoken about and thus, becomes a discourseaccording to Foucault. The norms of sexuality are thus shaped by institutions, which themselves are governed by anonymous and historical rules influenced by the specific time and place of a given period (Drazenovich, 2012). For instance, marriage has been defined as a union between a man and a woman, reinforced by religious teachings and law. These institutions, influenced by specific cultural and historical contexts, create norms regarding acceptable sexual behaviors and identities within society. For example, until recently, in many countries same-sex relationships were criminalized under colonial-era laws influenced by European norms of the time.

Considering LGBTQ+ topics as discourse, rather than focusing on sexual or gender identification, shifts discussions into political, medical, and judicial contexts, potentially hindering acceptance. This shift can depersonalize LGBTQ+ individuals, politicize their identities, pathologize their experiences, and create a bureaucratic approach to their needs, ultimately decreasing acceptance.

As for the 2023 dutch national elections. According to this vision, one could argue that right wing politics created a negative discourse surrounding LGBTQ+ topics. For example, the political party FVD says: "It should be over with the nauseating sexualization of youth. No more transgender propaganda in schools." The party tries to make a connection between sexualization of the youth and transgenderism which one could argue creates a negative discourse surounding the topic of transgender rights (Forum voor Democratie, n.d.).

This theory not only works when applied to politics, but more recently, also education and digital sphere. Rhoades argues that current dominant discourses maintain an anti LGBTQ+ bias that contributes to, and reinforces the denial of full, equal LGBTQ+ rights. Educational environments can promote this denial, to the point of implicitly sanctioning harasment and physical human rights abuses. Rhoades proposes different online outlets to change the discourse on the LGBTQ+ community. It enables much more democratic acces to the means of cultural consumption, organization, production and disctribution. Where mainstream media is pre-currated, online spaces are often free to use and promote the outing of ones own opinion (Rhoades, 2011).



Critical theory illuminates how power structures and societal discourse shape the experiences of marginalized groups, including the LGBTQ+ community. Butler's concept of gender performativity and Foucault's theory of knowledge and power highlight societal norms and institutional discourses create discriminatory practices.

Hypothesis 2: Power structures within Dutch society, reinforced by institutional norms, contribute to the marginalization and stigmatization of LGBTQ individuals, thereby hindering their feelings of emancipation.

2.3. Social Conflict Theory

Social conflict theory, based on Marxist principles, posits that interactions between groups or social classes within a society are primarily driven by conflict rather than consensus (Marx, 1932).

Conflict theory in this context can be used to explain certain power differentials in society. In the case of this thesis, we can observe acceptance, and the observed stagnation in this acceptance, of the LGBTQ+ community as class struggle. The dominant group could be classified as cis-gendered and straight identifying individuals. In Dutch politics, only 4 individuals in The Netherlands who are holders of political offices identify as LGBTQ+ (Wikipedia contributors, 2023). These are the controlling class. This observation also goes for society as a whole. According Knapp (1994) the controlling class owns resources and power. In this case the resource power also leads to rights and certain entitlements, for example legal mariage. Therefore, when the controlling group exclusively consists of the dominant group, emancipation for the oppressed becomes more difficult.

When stagnation of acceptance regarding the LGBTQ+ community is perceived through the lens of conflict theory, it is suggested that stagnation is a consequence of power struggles, which leads to class division. In this case, the dominant group actively resists changes that could potentially limit or deminish their control of their held values. This can be seen in the use of divisive language, the dissemination of misinformation, and the promotion of policies that discriminate against LGBTQ+ individuals (Kitzinger, 2005).

In the 2023 dutch elections, some conservations right wing parties in the netherlands utilized campaign strategies that emphasized traditional family values and heteronormative worldviews. According to conflict theory, these campaigns promotie social conflict and deepen societal divisions. Language such as: "Zullen we weer gewoon doen?" which



translates to: Is it time to act normal again? And the usage of terms such as "woke propaganda" are often used to weaponize LGBTQ+ topics and use it as a threat to societal norms and values, which leads to the reinforcement of marginalization among LGBTQ+ individuals. According to conflict theory, such strategies are employed by the dominant group to maintain their power and control over societal resources and cultural narratives which leads into the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 3: The election campaign strategies of right-wing political parties exacerbated social conflicts and deepened divisions, contributing to the stagnation in feelings of emancipation and societal acceptance among LGBTO+ individuals.

4. Methology

This chapter outlines the thesis' methodological approach, focusing on the qualitative data collection and analysis framework, specifically semi-structured interviews, and concludes with a discussion of ethical considerations.

4.1 Qualitative research methods

In this thesis the goal is to gain insights on why members of the LGBTQ+ community feel less accepted. Data shows that even though acceptance levels seem to be heading in a positive direction, feelings of acceptance among people who identify as LGBTQ+ are stagnating.

The reasons behind these feelings are not discussed in detail, as the results are derived from quantitative data. By conducting interviews, this study aims to explore the reasons why individuals in the LGBTQ+ community feel less accepted. Such qualitative insights can provide a deeper understanding of the mechanisms behind these feelings and help develop policy recommendations to address this issue.

4.2 Semi-structured interview

This thesis wants to shed light on the reasons why the LGBTQ+ community feels less accepted. As the goal is to gather specific information on why members of the LGBTQ+ community feel less accepted, qualitative data was collected and the interview method chosen



is a semi-structured interview. Arguments for this decision are as follows. To get into an answer of why, in-depth analysis is necessary to understand the emotions of participants in context of the research question. The aim is to find a pattern in the views on these stagnating feelings of acceptance. Quantitative research, while useful for measuring the extent of an issue, often falls short in exploring the underlying reasons behind individuals' feelings and experiences. By conducting semi-structured interviews, this study aims to uncover the perspectives of different identities within the LGBTQ+ community, providing detailed, insights into how LGBTQ+ individuals experience and interpret changes in discourse, the impact of political rhetoric and systemic issues, which you cannot extract with quantative research

This interview is divided into several parts. The interview starts with an introduction part where the researcher introduces themself and explains the purpose of the interview. Assurance of confidentiality and anonymity is addressed and consent for the recording of the interview is asked. After the introduction of the project, questions are asked to sketch a picture of the participants background which can help to consider various demographic factors that can influence individuals' experiences and perspectives. These include age, gender identity, sexual orientation, current place of residence, and hometown.

After the introduction, the topic of general emancipation of LGBTQ+ individuals will be addressed. One of the questions focuses on what the term emancipation means to the respondent. To prevent misinterpretation of key terms, the interviewer will also address the definition that this thesis uses so both the respondent, and the interviewer are on the same line definition wise. After the respondent will be asked about their global perspective on the current emancipation of the LGBTQ+ community. Based on their answer the respondent will be asked what factors, according to them, influence these feelings of acceptation.

The participants are also asked about the general political discourse in the last elections, they are encouraged to share their view of this election in relation to LGBTQ+ emancipation.

Lastly, the participants are asked about potential solutions to create more feelings of acceptance in the LGBTQ+ community. The participants are asked about policies that they know of that are in place, and whether they think they can work in creating more feelings of acceptance. The participants are also asked whether they have any policies in mind that would increase the feelings of acceptance and what potential challenges can they see to successfully incorporating these policies.



4.3 Participants and accessibility

For this thesis we interviewed 18 individuals who identify as LGBTQ+. The individuals were sampled in three ways. One method involved having a personal connection at the COC, a Dutch LGBTQ+ rights group founded in 1946, sent out a call for volunteers willing to be interviewed. The second method relied on the researcher's personal network, using his social media platforms to gather participants.

Given that different individuals within the LGBTQ+ community may have varying perspectives and experiences of acceptance, the sample intentionally included diverse representation. Nine individuals identified as lesbian, while three identified as gay. The transgender community was represented by three transgender women and two transgender men. Additionally, one person identified as bisexual, and four individuals identified as non-binary. It's important to note that some participants identified with multiple categories. Interviews averaged fourtyfive minutes in length, ranging from a thirty minutes to a more indepth seventy minutes. Table 1 offers a detailed overview of the participants, who have been assigned pseudonyms to protect their privacy and ensure confidentiality.

Table 1

Background information participants

Respondent	Label	Residence	Hometown
1	Gay	Zwolle	Almelo
2	Non-Binary	Delft	Delft
3	Lesbian	Zwolle	Goor
4	Lesbian	Zwolle	Wierden
5	Transman	Drijber	Drijber
6	Non-Binary	Nijmegen	Dedemsvaart
7	Bisexual and non-	Espel	Espel
8	binary Gay	Amersfoort	Amersfoort
9	Bisexual	Zwolle	Helmond
10	Transwoman	Almere	Dronten



11	Transman	Hilversum	Enter
12	Lesbian	Zwolle	Zwolle
13	Transwoman	Epe	Epe
14	Homosexual	Zwolle	Zwolle
15	Lesbian	Zwolle	Assen
16	Bisexual	Eemnes	Zwolle
17	Non-Binary	Breda	France
18	Transwoman Lesbian	Zwolle	Zwolle

Data-Analysis

When choosing a form of data-analysis, this study opted for deductive methods. Using deductive research, one tests theories and hypotheses. Using the theoretical framework as a basis, different hypotheses were formulated. With these hypotheses or expectations in mind individuals were interviewed. With the data gathered, hypotheses can be either confirmed of rejected. Thus, the deductive method was chosen due to the existence of relevant theories and literature. With the issue of LGBTQ+ acceptance having roots in conflict theory, critical theory and social constructionism, expectations can be set relying on these theories (Van Staa & Evers, 2010).

For coding, three phases of coding were done. Open coding, axial coding and selective coding. After transcription, interviews were coded using the open coding method using the A.I. in the qualitative research software package Atlasti. In the first step, each transcribed interview was analyzed by A.I. which created codes based on the research questions. The feature can automatically perform open and descriptive coding of the text. The feature is described as a research assistant for coding and should not be used as a replacement for the full coding process. (Atlasti, 2024).

After the A.I. model created the codes, the codes were manually checked on quality. Labels were assigned to specific text fragments. For instance, if an interviewee discussed difference of acceptance in different parts of The Netherlands the label "coming out experience" could be assigned.

The next step in this proces is axial coding. This process was done manually. Codes made during open coding were connected, organized and identified into broader categories.



For example, codes like "positive family reactions" and "supportive friend networks" can be coded under the overarching category of "social support for LGBTQ+ individuals. This systematic approach helps in identifying patterns and themes within the data, contributing to a comprehensive analysis.

Although A.I. can make the process of coding more efficient, recent studies have been published that analyze the limitations of the use of A.I such as. ChatGPT. In data-analysis in qualitative research. Research explored the potential of utilizing artificial intelligence, such as ChatGPT, for qualitative data analysis, questioning its ability to replicate manual coding results. By employing ChatGPT to re-examine two qualitative datasets previously analyzed using traditional methods, the study investigates its capacity to recreate original themes. Findings suggest ChatGPT's effectiveness in reproducing descriptive themes, but with less success in interpretive ones. While the program offers user-friendly operation and efficiency, it underscores that both manual coding and AI approaches are components within a broader analytic framework (Morgan, 2023). Knowing this, a second scan through the next will be necessary to ensure a precise analysis.

Ethics

According to a report by the COC (2013), LGBTQ+ children and youth face increased vulnerability, experiencing negative situations at school, home, sports clubs, and work due to their sexual orientation, gender identity, expression, and sex characteristics. This study adheres to ethical guidelines set forth by the LGBTQ+ Foundation, based on the ESRC Framework for Research Ethics (2015).

Ethical considerations include ensuring integrity and quality in research, transparent communication with participants about risks and methods, maintaining confidentiality and anonymity to protect identities, obtaining voluntary and informed consent, and avoiding harm by respecting participants' emotional and physical well-being. For further details on the ethics of this thesis, please refer to Appendix 3.



5. Results

The goal of this thesis was to draw a perspective on stagnation, acceptance and emancipation from the perspective of the LGBTQ+ community. The primary focus is on understanding the participants perceptions and experiences concerning the stagnation or decline in acceptance over recent years. The main themes include the general acceptance of LGBTQ+ individuals, the nuanced differences in acceptance between sexually diverse and gender diverse individuals, and the influence of geographical, political, and religious factors on these attitudes. Each. These themes are the based on the theoretical framework.

5.1 Describing acceptance towards LGBTQ+ individuals in the Netherlands Participants were asked if the measured stagnation in acceptance in the Netherlands could also be observed in daily live. This claim was experienced by most of the participants. The were multiple ways the participants experienced this stagnation.

5.1.1 The experienced state of LGBTQ+ acceptance in The Netherlands

All participants noted some form stagnation of acceptance or a drop in acceptance in the Netherlands. While most participants noted an increase in acceptance in the last ten years (2014 – 2024), they did notice a form of stagnation or decline in the last five years (2019 – 2024). The question on LGBTQ+ acceptance is very complicated according to the participants. This is due to the nature of the problem or the lack of understanding of the problem. The general notion is that acceptance for sexually diverse individuals is good, but not perfect.

"Complicated, indeed. I find there are places where I'm completely okay and can truly be myself, but these places aren't always easy to come by. For instance, I have a few sports activities each week, like synchronized swimming, where I'm part of a group of people who accept me fully. I'm also accepted in my studies, which I'm really grateful for. However, when I'm out on the street or in certain environments, I have to be more cautious. For example, around my parents or their friends. I'm trying to avoid those places more and more because they're not healthy for me. But when it comes to being out in public, you can't always avoid them entirely." (Respondent 1 – Homosexual male)



participants seem to notice a backlash on issues such as same-sex marriage, transgender rights, and LGBTQ+ representation in media being more openly discussed. The general notion is that society still finds confrontation with openly LGBTQ+ individuals difficult. While pro-LGBTQ+ campaigns in any form seem to create awareness, participants believe that these campaigns can also provoke harsher opinions and comments. This discrepancy suggests that, while there has been progression in legal frameworks and visibility, societal attitudes and everyday interactions may not have progressed at the same pace.

"It's openly discussed, which aids acceptance but also strengthens extreme opinions. We're both progressing and regressing. Public reactions are stronger, and social media makes it easier to ridicule or hurt others. It goes both ways." (Respondent 8 – homosexual male)

5.1.2 The experienced difference in acceptance towards sexually diverse and gender diverse individuals

A strong finding is the difference in acceptance towards gender diverse individuals and sexually diverse individuals. All participants noticed a difference in this regard. While individuals who identify as gay, lesbian or bisexual experienced a rise in acceptance, individuals who identified as transgender or non-binary experienced a decline or stagnation in acceptance. This was not only noted from by transgender and non-binary individuals themselves, but also by people who identified as gay, lesbian or bisexual.

"Yes, I think people who are gay, lesbian, or bisexual are more accepted than those dealing with gender issues, like non-binary or transgender individuals. For example, media portrayals, like Anouk's comment about menstruation, show that gender issues are less accepted than being gay." (Respondent 9 – Bisexual woman)

There is a consensus that society is outspoken on LGBTQ+ topics, yet gender diverse individuals often face discrimination despite perceptions of acceptance for sexually diverse groups. Participants stress the need for accountability. The longer history of advocacy for gay, lesbian, and bisexual rights has garnered more societal support."



"I thought society was moving in the right direction, but since COVID-19, there seems to be more resistance, especially against LGBTQ people, particularly transgender individuals. Being gay has been more accepted for a long time, but now that transgender issues and treatments are more discussed, there's increased resistance, even in my own environment." (Respondent 1 – Homosexual male)

All participants noticed some form of intersectional theory. Intersectional theory views the categories of intersecting relations such as race, gender, social class, sexuality, ability, and age as interrelated and mutually shaping one another. Taking these intersecting factors into consideration paves the way for understanding and explaining complexity in individuals, the world, and the human experience. (Simply Psychology, 2023) Intersectionality within LGBTQ+ issues recognizes how multiple aspects of identity (like race, gender, and class) intersect to shape experiences of discrimination and privilege. It shows that these identities are not separate but interconnected, affecting people's lives in complex ways. While only one respondent used the specific word "intersectionality".

"In essence, cisgender white gay men generally experience less discrimination than transgender individuals. This highlights intersectionality: the more one deviates from societal norms, the greater the challenges. For instance, those who are transgender, women, people of color, disabled, and low-income face even greater obstacles." ." (Respondent 10 – Transwoman)

A notion that was unanymous among transgender individuals was the notion that being able to pass as the gender you want to be perceived has influence on the amount of acceptance individuals receive. Firstly we see the phenomenon that people who do not pass. In context of gender, passing means when someone, normally a transgender person, is perceived as the gender they want to identify with instead of the sex they were assigned at birth. (NeuroTribe UK, 2022) All transgender participants identified more discrimination early in their transition, than later.

"As a transwoman, the experience varied depending on my stage. Initially, during my social transition with shorter hair and without makeup, I stood out noticeably. People often stared and questioned my appearance." (Respondent 10 – Transwoman)

An unexpected finding regarding transgender acceptance lies in the healthcare system. While the term acceptance was used as society respecting identify, rights and treatment with dignity



and equality, results show that acceptance for transgender individuals also entails the amount of support they get from healthcare insitutions such as genderclinics. All transgender participants noted that transgender healthcare in The Netherlands is flawed. Year long waitinglists and outdated diagnosis terms regarding the prescription of hormone replacement therapy² seem to greatly contribute to the amount of acceptance experienced by transgender individuals. The notion is that the group does not feel taken seriously by government, thus not accepted.

"When I came out at 18 or 19, I registered with Stepwork through my GP, but they went bankrupt. They promised to put me on another waiting list, but that never happened. Depressed, I turned to the VU but never heard back. Why are transgender care wait times so long? Why do I need court involvement to change an X in my passport? And why is it such a hassle to change passport letters?" (Respondent 2 – Trans non-binary)

5.1.3 Geographical differences

All participants who grew up in smaller cities or villages, who later in life moved to bigger cities noticed a difference in the acceptance between the two locations. Namely, all noticed more acceptance in the larger city. The reasons for this are apparent in the examples participants gave. For some participants who were still closeted in their hometown, the move to a new location gave them the opportunity to come out of the closet.

"When I arrived in Leiden, I felt like I was in a whole new world, prompting me to come out. However, I didn't come out to everyone until I was 23." (Respondent 1 – Homosexual male)

The difference in acceptance regarding sexual diversity and gender diversity is also linked to geographical location. Smaller villages are on average more conservative regarding gender diverse individuals, while sexually diverse individuals seem to be more accepted.

"In my hometown of Wierden, there's decent acceptance for homosexuality, but gender identity is more sensitive. Zwolle, being a city, has more visibility and acceptance, though it's less open than Utrecht or

_

² Transgender hormone therapy, also called hormone replacement therapy (HRT) or gender-affirming hormone therapy (GAHT), is a form of <u>hormone therapy</u> in which <u>sex hormones</u> and other <u>hormonal medications</u> are administered to <u>transgender</u> or <u>gender nonconforming</u> individuals for the purpose of more closely aligning their <u>secondary sexual characteristics</u> with their <u>gender identity</u>. (Wikipedia contributors, 2024)



Amsterdam due to its Christian influence. People here tend to conform, uniqueness isn't embraced.

Personally, I've been fortunate not to face extreme hostility, but I wouldn't be surprised if it happened."

(Respondent 4 – Lesbian woman)

5.1.4 Religion

Due to the religious backgrounds of surrounding family or friends, participants who grew up in a religious household all experienced stagnation. This impacted their possibility to express their sexuality or gender. This was mostly due to the Christian background of the parents or guardians of the participants. All participants who grew up in a strict religious household noted repression of their identity due to the religious beliefs of their parents. One respondent voiced their experience of being an outcast of the church due to their homosexuality.

"I love making music, so I played in a church band. When I came out as gay, I had to quit because they felt someone like me shouldn't be a church leader." – (Respondent 1, homosexual)

This is phenomenon in not only experienced by sexually diverse individuals, but also by people who are gender diverse. One participant noted how religion was the foundation of their parents' argument regarding why being trans non-binary is wrong. In the case of this individual, they were born being assigned female at birth, but later in live felt they didn't feel comfortable in their body which resulted in the decision to have a mastectomy³. Noteworthy is the fact that the participant says that their parents disapproved of this change on a personal level, but they used religion to support this argument.

"I think they personally believe that, but there is a basis in religion.

Like, your body is given to you, so you shouldn't want to change it. It is given by God." (Respondent 2 –

Trans non-binary)

³ A mastectomy is surgery to remove a breast. Sometimes other tissues near the breast, such as lymph nodes, are also removed. This surgery is most often used to treat breast cancer. In some cases, a mastectomy is done to help prevent breast cancer in women who have a high risk for it (hopkinsmedicine, 2021).



In all cases this religious repression resulted in participants moving out of their parental home earlier than they would have liked. A transgender woman noted she fled her parental home due to religious repression by her father.

"At 14, I realized I was transgender, but living in a strict Christian household with a domineering father was challenging. He had negative views on LGBTQ+ people, even suggesting harmful actions. I hinted to my uncle, aunt, and grandparents about my struggles and suicidal thoughts. Two weeks after high school graduation, they called offering help. I got in the car, and that was nearly two years ago." (Respondent 10 – Transwoman)

5.2 Emancipation regarding LGBTQ+ individuals

5.2.1 Ideal form of emancipation regarding the LGBTQ+ individuals

Participants were asked what the ideal form of emancipation was in context of the LGBTQ+ community. All participants were unanimous that emancipation meant that everyone, no matter their gender or sexuality would be treated equally. Treated equally in the eyes of the law and equally by society.

Emancipation for me is as follows. when people are judged, there are no differences based on sexual preference, orientation, or gender. It doesn't matter how you identify in these respects. (respondent 1 – homosexual male)

After analyzing the interviews, it becomes evident that the notion is that the LGBTQ+ group does not want to be an exception and does not want to be treated as one. While gender diverse participants generally do not expect society to always ask for everyone's pronouns, they believe true emancipation would mean that if someone requests the use of specific pronouns, it would be accepted without issue.

"In my view, being LGBTQ+ should be seen as normal, not exceptional. Pronouns should be accepted without hesitation, embracing differences. This acceptance would help me feel less like an outlier; true emancipation would mean shedding that feeling.". (Respondent 3 – Lesbian)



5.2.2 The current state of emancipation regarding LGBTQ+ individuals

The current state of emancipation regarding LGBTO+ is not at the point participants want it to be. Participants gave various examples of why they feel that the Netherlands has not achieved emancipation yet regarding LGBTQ+ individuals. They observed a notable divergence in societal attitudes toward LGBTQ+ acceptance, contributing to polarization in discussions surrounding their emancipation. This polarization reflects varying levels of support and resistance within society, impacting equality and inclusion. For example, ine individual who lives in a large city like Amsterdam, might have a different experience regarding emancipation to someone who lives in small village in the east of the Netherlands. A participant working for the COC⁴ and who gives presentations about the LGBTQ+ community at schools demonstrates how this polarization can be noticed in The Netherlands:

"In larger cities and certain schools, I often sense acceptance, particularly from children and parents. However, in some schools, there's still progress to be made, especially where strong religious influences may lower LGBTO+ acceptance. Respect is important, even amid differing beliefs. For instance, in an Islamic school, openly stating I'm lesbian should ideally receive mutual respect, fostering an environment of acceptance. Yet, when homophobia arises from the environment itself, it's particularly challenging, and I find this distinction puzzling." (Respondent 3 – Lesbian)

This notion regarding polarization is noticed by all participants. While polarization is seen between different geographical locations, it is also noticed in politics, which directly reflects on society. Participants expressed the sentiment that LGBTQ+ individuals are often exploited by extreme right-wing ideologies. Including polarizing debates and diverse opinions within political discourse. For instance, LGBTQ+ issues may be used as wedge issues to mobilize support or opposition, sometimes overshadowing genuine dialogue and understanding. On the other side of the spectrum, progressive parties actively put a lot of emphasiz on promoting inclusivity and advocate for LGBTQ+ rights, countering the polarizing effects of extreme viewpoints. This dynamic can lead to tensions and divisions within society, impacting how LGBTQ+ rights and concerns are perceived and addressed

⁴ COC Nederland (officieel: Federatie COC Nederland) of kortweg COC, is een Nederlandse belangenorganisatie van homoseksuelen, lesbiennes, biseksuelen, transgenders en mensen met een intersekseconditie. (COC, 2023)



"The growing polarization and shift towards the right can be a real threat. Many exploit this for power, fueling nationalist sentiments and ignoring genuine dialogue. Populists often sideline LGBTQ+ acceptance, which is concerning." (Respondent 13 – Lesbian)

Regarding feelings of emancipation among transgender individuals, all participants noted that true emancipation would involve resolving all practical issues. For all participants who identified as transgender, this meant the ease of how one could change their identity on their passport, for example for a transgender woman this means having a V, for female on their passport, instead of their birth assigned M.

It should be much easier to change your sex on passports and other legal documents. This would greatly enhance emancipation. It's puzzling why it's so difficult when it brings so much happiness to people..

(Respondent 6 – non-binary)

5.3 Political influence

5.3.1 Political influence in general

There was a consensus among participants that contemporary politics have influence on LGBTQ+ acceptance to some degree. Participants had the impression that contemporary politics has negative influence on the acceptance of the LGBTQ+ community. This shift was likely caused by the emergence of right-wing Dutch parties that increasingly employ populist rhetoric concerning LGBTQ+ and gender issues, regarding the LGBTQ+ community as predatory. The common sentiment among participants is the idea that politics shape what is normal in society, and thus what should be accepted.

"In politics, role models represent the Dutch people. Acceptance there would be a significant step forward, in my opinion." (respondent 3 – lesbian woman)

Although not all participants observed this trend, some noted a transfer of American political sentiment to the Netherlands.



"It's incredibly unfair and problematic. In America, school shootings happen often, but when a transgender person is involved, it gets disproportionate media attention. This unfairly tarnishes all transgender individuals. Addressing this issue is challenging without clear solutions." (Respondent 11 – Transman)

5.3.2 The influence of the 2023 Dutch elections

A small percentage of the participants experienced that the 2023 national Dutch election for the House of Representatives had influence on acceptance. While most acknowledged that politics in general did have some kind of influence, only a small percentage of participants noticed negative discourse surrounding LGBTQ+ topics specifically during the 2023 elections.

I really didn't get the impression that it's about standpoint during the 2023 elections had much influence on the acceptance regarding LGBTQ+ issues. (respondent 4 – lesbian woman)

Participants mainly observed incidents that were widely covered by the media, notably one involving faction leader Thierry Baudet and a non-binary individual, where Baudet denied the existence of non-binary identities. Those who noted negative political discourse during this time were typically politically engaged or personally interested in politics.

One vivid memory stands out: watching Nos op 3, where politicians faced live questions for an hour.

Though I can't recall the exact name, I distinctly remember Thierry from FVD being mentioned. Now, driven by your actions, I find myself rushing again, facing a flood of hateful comments and death threats.

(respondent 2 – non-binary)

5.4 Policy

5.4.1 What could be better?

To create perspective on what LGBTQ+ individuals would change policy wise in the Netherlands, the participants were asked what changes to policy they would implement to heighten acceptance regarding LGBTQ+ individuals in the Netherlands. There were two main aspects all participants agreed on: improving or changing policy regarding educating, and the reparation of the gender healthcare system.



5.4.2 policy in education

All participants had the common idea that some education on LGBTQ+ topics in necessary. How this should be done and at what age, were the factors that differ mostly between participants.

The first thing we see is the difference in how LGBTQ+ topics should be treated in schools. Some participants experienced that mandatory implementation of readings or informational session by external parties or by teachers who are well read on the subject would bring more acceptance. Those participants argued that if readings and informational sessions on LGBTQ+ topics are not mandatory, they will not be executed in their full potential. According to participants who supported this option, these readings and informational session, when executed correctly, can offer valuable discussions that can lead to more acceptance.

"In education today, LGBTQI+ themes are often treated as optional. Many schools, both primary and secondary, merely fulfill the requirement without fully integrating LGBTQI+ education into their curriculum. This superficial approach hinders meaningful discussions, as I've seen firsthand during the COC informational sessions I lead." (respondent 1 – homosexual male)

Another common argument among participants is that individuals are unaccepting due to lack of knowledge. Participants who were in favor of readings and informational sessions see ignorance as the main barrier for achieving acceptance. Familiarization is the key to a more accepting society.

Yes, education is primarily about becoming familiar with the topic. People are often afraid of things they don't understand. Once you're exposed to it, it becomes familiar. (respondent 2 – non-binary)

However, not all participants believed that more readings and informational sessions are key to more acceptance. Some thought this may have a countering effect regarding acceptance due to the idea that excessive information and education about LGBTQ+ topics may inadvertently contribute to polarization rather than creating acceptance. This can create a sense of threat or defensiveness among individuals, leading to further division instead of unity.



"It's not just about campaigns in general, but when there are too many of them, it can become overwhelming. People might start thinking, "This is too much," which can increase aversion and influence others negatively." (respondent 11 – transgender man)

Among the participants who were hesitant to suggest more information sessions and knowledge, there was a sentiment regarding the potential drawbacks of overwhelming individuals with too much information, which would in their opinions, lead to more backlash.

You can't simply overwhelm people with a rainbow bombardment and expect universal appreciation.

Understanding its purpose is crucial. Just as with learning math, grasping its relevance makes a difference in acceptance. (respondent 13 – lesbian woman)

Participants who were hesitant of the idea of more readings and informational sessions instead opted for a more interwoven variant of LGBTQ+ integration in the curriculum. For instance, many participants encouraged the idea of incorporating LGBTQ+ topics in "mentoruren" social sciences, biology or history. Participants argue that LGBTQ+ topics can be incorporated into subjects taught in secondary school. The sentiment is that different LGBTQ+ topics can be seamlessly integrated into various subjects taught in secondary school, fostering a more holistic understanding and acceptance of diversity.

"I think schools should revise their curriculum and teaching methods. Subjects like citizenship, social studies, biology, and history touch on these issues, but they aren't thoroughly discussed and need to be reviewed." (respondent 4 – lesbian woman)

5.4.3 policy regarding gender affirming healthcare.

All transgender participants noted they would change policy regarding gender affirming healthcare. There is a common sentiment that the system regarding transgender healthcare is convoluted and creates more harm than good. Participants experienced that the system related to gender affirming healthcare was bureaucratic, and they experienced pushback whenever they tried to take the next step. Every transgender respondent noticed this flaw in the system and that this flaw has had some kind of effect on mental wellbeing of transgender individuals.

⁵ "Mentoruur" is a subject in Dutch secondary school. During this hour, the entire class gathers together to discuss things with their mentor. In secondary school, each class has a mentor.



Participants who have not personally experienced gender affirming healthcare but know individuals who have reported hearing about the system's flaws and the impacts these flaws had on those individuals.

"Address the healthcare backlog by making the transition process faster and more comprehensive, and by opening more specialized institutions to reduce long waiting lists." (respondent 7 – transwoman)

"Ensuring no budget cuts in healthcare, especially for trans care and mental health services like psychology, is crucial. As a nurse, I see cost-saving measures affecting healthcare." (respondent 10 – transwoman)

"I would streamline the medical process, balancing regulation to avoid impulsivity while ensuring accessibility. Everyone should be able to change their name, including those leaving their religion or wanting their common name on official documents like passports." (respondent 11 – transman)



Discussion

Conclusion

The goal of this thesis was to gather perspectives on LGBTQ+ acceptance and its stagnation in the Netherlands from inside the LGBTQ+ community. This was achieved by exploring the experiences of LGBTQ+ individuals in the Netherlands regarding acceptance and analyzing these experiences. This study concludes that the observed stagnation in acceptance towards LGBTQ+ individuals from the 2022 SCP report is also experienced as stagnating from the perspectives of LGBTQ+ individuals. It should be noted that there is a difference between the observed stagnation from the perspectives of gender diverse individuals and sexually diverse individuals. (Kuyper, 2018)

This thesis concluded that LGBTQ+ individuals noted difference in acceptance between the different identities. This leads to the confirmation of the first expectation. According to the results, a divide can be seen between the perspectives on acceptance between gender diverse and sexually diverse individuals. Homosexual, lesbian and bisexual individuals experienced more acceptance than transgender and non-binary individuals. Gender diverse individuals experienced more distance to the norm due to the feeling that being gender diverse is experienced as relatively new to the public, thus resulting in a lessened feeling of societal acceptance. The striving for equality for sexually diverse individuals has been going on longer, which resulted in homosexuals, lesbians and bisexuals feeling that they experienced more acceptance from society than transgender and non-binary induvial.

This thesis also concludes that the experienced acceptance is influenced by power structures in society. The power structures that influence acceptance according to perspectives from within the LGBTQ+ community are politics, healthcare and education. According to conflict theory, politics influence certain discourse in society. Critical theory suggests that power structures, which is in this case political discourse, shape public opinion. The theory puts its focus on society and culture to look at certain power structures, proposing that social problems therefore do not stem from individuals, but from social structures and cultural assumptions (Horkheimer, 1937). This is in line-with the results of this study. LGBTQ+ individuals experience negative discourse surrounding LGBTQ+ issues, most notably within right wing ideology. Especially gender diverse individuals experienced they were a scapegoat for right wing parties with more radical and/or populistic ideas, feeling that their identity is being denounced.



Although this thesis did find a link between general political discourse and the experience of acceptance, I did not find a link between the 2023 Dutch elections and the decline in feelings of acceptance. While it was expected that political discourse during election campaigns would negatively impact feelings of acceptance among LGBTQ+ individuals, this thesis found that only a small minority of participants experienced any negative discourse they felt could have impacted acceptance regarding the LGBTQ+ topics. Individuals who did recognize negative discourse were already involved or interested in politics. However, this thesis did find a link between overall negative political discourse and feelings of acceptance. Political discourse is experienced as influencing the overall norms around LGBTQ+ topics, which has direct effect on the feelings of acceptance.

This thesis reveals that acceptance is not only affected by the public's attitude towards LGBTQ+ topics, but also highlights how the current state of the Dutch healthcare system influences the acceptance experienced by gender diverse individuals. This thesis shows that the Dutch healthcare system is seen as heavily flawed according to gender diverse individuals, which directly impacts their feelings of acceptance. This confirms the theory that due to long waiting lists and gender healthcare diagnosis criteria that are experienced as outdated, gender diverse individuals do not feel taken seriously by government. The lack of action taken to resolve these experienced systematic problems gives the negative implication that gender issues are not deemed urgent enough to act on. This results in the lowered experienced acceptance by members of the LGBTQ+ community.

Lastly, this study saw that the lack of proper LGBTQ+ education is causing society to be partly ignorant towards LGBTQ+ individuals. While government introduced a law in 2020 obliging schools to give education about LGBTQ+ identities, this study noticed that in practice proper education on LGBTQ+ issues is still lacking and that not all schools are experienced in delivering coherent and quality education on LGBTQ+ topics.

Limitations

The current thesis is subject to several limitations. First, it should be noted that due to these time restrictions, this thesis is limited regarding the diversity within the group sampled. While the thesis covered a wide spectrum of the LGBTQ+ community, it failed to include individuals who identify outside of the terms lesbian, gay, transgender or non-binary. This could have also affected the results regarding sexually diverse individuals. While this study concluded that sexually diverse individuals experienced more acceptance, the study failed to



include asexual and pansexual individuals, which are newer identities and can therefore be less accepted due to misalignment with societal norms. Including these identities in the interview process could negatively impact the average experience of acceptance among sexually diverse individuals. Besides the lack of diversity in sexual diversity and gender diversity, the sample also consisted of only caucasian individuals, which created a lack of ethnic diversity. One could argue that being non-caucasian can impact feelings of acceptance among LGBTQ+ individuals. This suggests the need for further research that includes a wider variety of identities and ethnicities.

Another potential limitation is linked to the question of whether the LGBTQ+ community should be studied as a collective. According to this thesis, there are distinct differences in the experiences of acceptance between gender diverse individuals and sexually-diverse individuals. While the term LGBTQ+ has a positive effect on community building, the discrepancies in outcomes between these sub-groups suggest that further research should focus on the specific experiences of different sub-groups within the LGBTQ+ community, rather than treating it as a homogenous collective.

While this thesis aimed to interview individuals from diverse geo-demographic backgrounds to capture a comprehensive view of acceptance in the Netherlands, there was a concentration of participants residing in the province of Overijssel. While some individuals were interviewed who lived in different parts of The Netherlands, it should be noted that we cannot make assumptions on ideas about the LGBTQ+ community in different regions of The Netherlands. This brings into questions the generalizability of the conclusions for all LGBTQ+ individuals in the Netherlands.

Lastly, researcher bias should also be considered. While this thesis was conducted at a master's thesis level, under supervision and with scientific integrity in mind, readers should be cautious of potential biases that could influence the outcomes. Such biases could include the researcher's personal beliefs, the framing of interview questions, and the interpretation of the answers provided.

Policy advice

Taking in consideration the findings of this thesis regarding the experiences of the LGBTQ+ community, as well as the theoretical perspectives suggested, the following advice regarding the progression of LGBTQ+ acceptance can be put forward.



Healthcare

Firstly, the government should address, revise, and fix the flaws regarding gender affirming healthcare. Specifically, this thesis concludes that due to long waiting times and outdated diagnosis systems, gender diverse individuals are experiencing more mental stress than necessary. This can lead to depression, anxiety and even suicide. Potential fixes for the system can be brought under three mechanisms: reforming gender affirming care, education of healthcare professionals, and the reevaluation of diagnostic criteria.

The reform of the gender affirming care involves the process of accessing this care more efficiently. The referral system should be simplified, and bureaucratic systems should be either abandoned or simplified. Priority should be given to streamlining referrals so individuals can access specialistic care more efficiently. At the time of writing, gender diverse individuals must go through their general practitioner to get a referral to a gender clinic. Due to the psychological and specialist nature of the subject, general practicians, often, lack knowledge on the subject to make an informed decision. This leads into second mechanism - the education of healthcare professionals.

Healthcare professionals, particularly general practitioners, have been observed to have little knowledge regarding the subject of gender affirming care. Due to the nature of the Dutch healthcare system, individuals must go through their general practitioner to get a referral to a specialized gender clinic. This study proposes a mandatory training programs on the basics of gender healthcare to ensure healthcare professionals have a general understanding and can address the needs of gender diverse individuals, so guiding individuals through gender health is more effective and efficient.

The third mechanism through which healthcare can be fixed relates to diagnostic criteria. To get gender affirming healthcare an individual must be diagnosed with gender dysphoria⁶. According to the gender diverse participants interviewed, there were several cases of individuals lying about their symptoms to get gender healthcare. The main reason for lying about symptoms is the strict and outdated criteria used, which often do not accurately reflect the patients' personal experiences or identities. These criteria are experienced as overly rigid and not inclusive of the diverse ways in which these feelings can be manifested,

⁶ According to the DSM 5: Gender dysphoria is a marked incongruence between one's experienced/expressed gender and primary/secondary sex characteristics, a strong desire to be rid of these characteristics, a strong desire for the characteristics of the other gender, a strong desire to be or be treated as the other gender, and a strong conviction of having the typical feelings and reactions of the other gender. (American Psychiatric Association, 2022)



forcing individuals to conform to a narrow set of symptoms to receive sometimes lifesaving care. This phenomenon is not limited to the Netherlands or the participants in this study; it has been observed in numerous cases dating back to the 1950s, where individuals have misrepresented themselves to obtain desired healthcare (Stone, 1992). According to this thesis and studies done before, it is recommended to rewrite what the diagnosis of genderdysphoria should entail and whether genderdysphoria is the right term to use. While it is not implied that healthcare should abandon all forms of diagnosis, it is essential to reassess and research whether the current diagnostic criteria for determining if an individual should receive gender affirming care.

Education

According to this thesis and theory, not implementing more education as an extra on top the standard curriculum, but rather control whether schools already adhere to the standard requirements on LGBTQ+ education is advised. This thesis would advise that the government should enforce random controls to assess whether schools effectively enforce these rules. In addition, schools should be required to submit annual reports detailing their implementation of LGBTQ+ education. This includes documentation of curriculum content, lesson plans, teacher training activities, and student feedback. Secondly, the establishment of feedback mechanisms is crucial. Creating channels for students and parents to provide anonymous feedback on their school's handling of LGBTQ+ topics can help identify schools that may not be adhering to standards. This feedback can be instrumental in pinpointing areas that require improvement and ensuring that all students feel supported and included. Additionally, educators should be trained on the topic. This could include workshops, seminars, and online courses designed to equip teachers with the necessary skills and knowledge.

While this thesis does not recommend any sort of extra LGBTQ+ on top of the existing curriculum, it does advise to implement LGBTQ+ topic among existing subjects in secondary education. This entails discussing and educating on LGBTQ+ topics in line with the standard subjects such as: Biology, Social Sciences, History, Geography, Art and Philosophy. For example, within social sciences, education could delve into social constructs shaping gender and sexuality across different cultures and societies. Additionally, comprehensive exploration of LGBTQ+ rights movements is essential, shedding light on the impact of discrimination on both individuals and communities. In the subject of history, attention could be given to studying historical LGBTQ+ figures and their significant



contributions to society and the enduring struggles for LGBTQ+ rights and equality. Geographical inquiry should encompass an investigation into global attitudes and legal frameworks pertaining to LGBTQ+ rights, with the analysis of geographical factors influencing LGBTQ+ acceptance within different regions. By normalizing these discussions within the curriculum, this study expects a positive effect on reducing stigmatization, thereby creating greater acceptance for LGBTQ+ individuals.



References

- Amarachi Ofordi Ofordi, J., & Joseph, A. (2023). BREAKING GENDER STEREOTYPES: a

 CRITICAL APPRAISAL OF BARRIERS TO EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION.

 Wukari International Studies Journal.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2022). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425787
- Ann, F. L. (2017). Interviewing in social Science research. In *Routledge eBooks*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203756065
- Anzalotta, J. (2017). I am Human, Too! An Analysis of Conflict Resolution Theories and

 Their Applicability to the LGBTQ Community.

 https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/I-am-Human%2C-Too!-An-Analysis-of-Conflict-Resolution-Anzalotta/5d37fad5aa7e48a3f3d7fa1936381c46f7c0b157
- Atlasti. (2024, March 6). *AI Coding powered by OpenAI*. ATLAS.ti. https://atlasti.com/ai-coding-powered-by-openai
- BBC / Dutch gay couples exchange vows. (2001, April 1). BBC. Retrieved March 11, 2024, from http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/europe/1253754.stm
- Berger, P. L., & Luckmann, T. (1967). The Social Construction of Reality: a treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge. *American Sociological Review*, *32*(1), 137. https://doi.org/10.2307/2091739
- Bettoni, M. C. (2013). Weak and strong constructivist foundations. *Constructivist Foundations*, *9*(1), 19–21. https://constructivist.info/9/1/019.bettoni.pdf
- Butler, J. (1988). Performative Acts and Gender Constitution: An essay in Phenomenology and Feminist Theory on JSTOR. www.jstor.org. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3207893



- Butler, J. (2024). Who's afraid of gender? In *Google Books*.

 https://books.google.nl/books/about/Who_s_Afraid_of_Gender.html?id=hMfIEAAA

 QBAJ&source=kp_book_description&redir_esc=y
- Camp, J., Vitoratou, S., & Rimes, K. A. (2020). LGBQ+ Self-Acceptance and Its Relationship with Minority Stressors and Mental Health: A Systematic Literature Review. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 49(7), 2353–2373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-020-01755-2
- CNN Transcript Sunday Morning News: Same-Sex marriage legalized in Amsterdam April 1, 2001. (n.d.). http://edition.cnn.com/TRANSCRIPTS/0104/01/sm.10.html
- COC. (2013). LHBTI-kinderen in Nederland. In *Coc*. Retrieved April 10, 2024, from https://www.coc.nl/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Rapport-LHBTI-kinderen-in-Nederland-2014.pdf
- COC. (2023a, March 29). COC Over ons.
- COC. (2023b, November 23). *Uiterst zorgelijke verkiezingsuitslag voor*regenbooggemeenschap en andere minderheidsgroepen. https://coc.nl/nieuws-enpublicaties/uiterst-zorgelijke-verkiezingsuitslag-voor-regenbooggemeenschap-enandere-minderheidsgroepen/
- Drazenovich, G. (2012). A Foucauldian analysis of homosexuality. *Educational Philosophy* and Theory, 44(3), 259–275. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-5812.2010.00653.x
- EqualDex. (2023). *LGBT Equality Index*. Retrieved March 12, 2024, from https://www.equaldex.com/equality-index
- Forum voor Democratie. (n.d.). "Wat is non-binair?" Baudet (FVD) CLASHT met Jetten (D66) in debat over LHBTQI+. Forum Voor Democratie. Retrieved May 9, 2024, from https://fvd.nl/videos/eb8ILyOlSg4
- Foucault, M. (1969). The Archaeology of Knowledge. http://ci.nii.ac.jp/ncid/BA26532621



- Foucault, M. (1976). *The history of sexuality*.

 https://www2.warwick.ac.uk/fac/arts/english/currentstudents/undergraduate/modules/fulllist/special/endsandbeginnings/foucaultrepressiveen278.pdf
- Gacilo, J., Steinheider, B., Stone, T. H., Hoffmeister, V., Jawahar, I., & Garrett, T. (2018).

 The double-edged sword of having a unique perspective. *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion*, *37*(3), 298–312. https://doi.org/10.1108/edi-03-2017-0060
- Garrod, J. Z. (2020). A Brave Old World: An analysis of Scientific Racism and BIDIL®.

 McGill Journal of Medicine, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.26443/mjm.v9i1.499
- Gay Marriage around the World | Pew Research Center. (2023, June 9). Pew Research

 Center's Religion & Public Life Project. https://www.pewresearch.org/religion/factsheet/gay-marriage-around-the-world/
- GGD. (2024). GGD Gezondheid in Beeld Amsterdam.

 https://ggdgezondheidinbeeld.nl/mosaic/gezondheid-in-beeld/seksuele-gezondheid-en-identiteit
- Glaad. (2023, May 24). Annual GLAAD Study Shows Further Decline in LGBTQ Acceptance

 among Younger Americans / GLAAD. GLAAD | GLAAD Rewrites the Script for

 LGBTQ Acceptance. https://glaad.org/releases/annual-glaad-study-shows-further-decline-lgbtq-acceptance-among-younger-americans/
- Greenwood, S., & Greenwood, S. (2024, April 22). *The global divide on homosexuality persists*. Pew Research Center.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2020/06/25/global-divide-on-homosexuality-persists/
- Haasnoot, S. (2023, July 20). Dit is waarom de LHBTI-haat in Nederland groeit. *NPO 3FM*. https://www.npo3fm.nl/nieuws/human/b0497ab2-3b85-47e4-8a7e-0cb6494f8aee/dit-is-waarom-de-lhbt-haat-in-nederland-groeit



- hopkinsmedicine. (2021, August 8). *Mastectomy*. Johns Hopkins Medicine.

 https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-diseases/breastcancer/mastectomy#:~:text=A%20mastectomy%20is%20surgery%20to,a%20high%2
 Orisk%20for%20it.
- Horkheimer, M. (1937). Traditional and Critical Theory. Selected Essays.
- Huijnk, Wi. (2022, August 30). *Opvattingen over seksuele en genderdiversiteit in Nederland en Europa 2022*. Publicatie | Sociaal En Cultureel Planbureau. Retrieved March 12, 2024, from https://www.scp.nl/publicaties/publicaties/2022/05/17/opvattingen-overseksuele-en-genderdiversiteit-in-nederland-en-europa-2022
- ILGA Europe. (2023). *Country ranking | Rainbow Europe*. Retrieved March 17, 2024, from https://rainbow-europe.org/country-ranking
- ILGA-Europe. (2021). Annual Review 2021 | ILGA-Europe. In *ILGA-Europe | Safety*,

 Equality and Freedom for LGBTI People in Europe & Central Asia. IGLA-Europe.

 Retrieved March 12, 2024, from https://ilga-europe.org/report/annual-review-2021/
- ILGA-Europe. (2024). *Netherlands Rainbow map*. ILGA. Retrieved May 23, 2024, from https://rainbowmap.ilga-europe.org/countries/netherlands/
- Jamshed, S. (2014). Qualitative research method-interviewing and observation. *Journal of Basic and Clinical Pharmacy*, *5*(4), 87. https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-0105.141942
- Kendall, G., & Wickham, G. (1999). *Using Foucault's methods*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9780857020239
- KITZINGER, C. (2005). Heteronormativity in action: Reproducing the heterosexual nuclear family in after-hours medical calls. *Social Problems*.
- Knott, E., Rao, A. H., Summers, K., & Teeger, C. (2022). Interviews in the social sciences.

 Nature Reviews Methods Primers, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s43586-022-00150-6



- Kuyper, L. (2018, November). LHBT-Monitor 2018. Monitor | Sociaal En Cultureel Planbureau. Retrieved March 12, 2024, from https://www.scp.nl/publicaties/monitors/2018/11/21/lhbt-monitor-2018
- LGBT Foundation. (2023). Ethical Research: Good practice guide to researching LGBT communities and issues. In *Lgbt Foundation*. Retrieved April 14, 2024, from https://lgbt.foundation/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/Ethics20Guide.pdf
- Marx, K. (1932). *Capital: the Communist Manifesto and other writings*. https://fada.birzeit.edu/bitstream/20.500.11889/6267/1/ED21.pdf
- Mirza, H., Bellalem, F., & Mirza, C. (2013). Ethical Considerations in Qualitative Research:

 Summary Guidelines for novice social science researchers. *Social Studies and Research Journal*.
- Morgan, D. L. (2023). Exploring the use of artificial intelligence for qualitative data analysis: the case of ChatGPT. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 22. https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069231211248
- Naturalism in Epistemology (Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy). (2020, March 16). https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/epistemology-naturalized/
- NeuroTribe UK. (2022, February 13). *Cis-Passing NeuroTribe UK*.

 https://neurotribe.uk/glossary/cispassing/#:~:text=Definition,they%20were%20assigned%20at%20birth.
- NOS. (2022, May 17). Nederlanders positiever geworden over lhbt'ers, maar acceptatie stagneert. *NOS*. https://nos.nl/artikel/2429143-nederlanders-positiever-geworden-over-lhbt-ers-maar-acceptatie-stagneert
- NOS. (2023, November 1). *Kijk mee: jongeren in gesprek met Baudet (FvD) en Jetten (D66)*[Video]. NOS. https://nos.nl/livestream/2496264-kijk-mee-jongeren-in-gesprek-met-baudet-fvd-en-jetten-d66



- Oakley, J., & Knapp, P. H. (1995). One World-Many Worlds: Contemporary Sociological Theory. *Teaching Sociology*, 23(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.2307/1319385
- Pew Research Center. (2020, June 25). *The global divide on homosexuality persists*. https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2020/06/25/global-divide-on-homosexuality-persists/
- Pew Research Center. (2023, June 9). Same-Sex Marriage around the world. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/religion/fact-sheet/gay-marriage-around-theworld/
- Poushter, J., Cornibert, S., & Pew Research Center. (2020, October 27). Views of

 homosexuality around the world | Pew Research Center. Pew Research Center's

 Global Attitudes Project. Retrieved March 12, 2024, from

 https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2020/06/25/global-divide-on-homosexualitypersists/
- Reynolds, A. (2013). Representation and Rights: The impact of LGBT Legislators in Comparative perspective. *American Political Science Review*, 107(2), 259–274. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0003055413000051
- Rhoades, M. (2011). Disrupting discourse digitally for LGBTQ rights. *Journal of Cultural Research in Art Education*, 29(1). https://doi.org/10.2458/jcrae.4965
- RTL Nieuws. (2022, May 17). SCP: acceptatie van lhbti-gemeenschap stagneert.

 https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/nieuws/nederland/artikel/5309079/lhbti-onderzoek-scp-acceptatie-homo-coc
- RTL Nieuws. (2023, November 4). *Vooral negatieve aandacht voor trans personen in campagne, zeggen lhbti-organisaties*.

 https://www.rtlnieuws.nl/nieuws/politiek/artikel/5416957/lhbti-trans-campagne-

verkiezingen-partijen



- Sears, A. (2010). A good book, in theory: Making Sense Through Inquiry, second edition (2nd ed.).
- Simply Psychology. (2023, February 26). *Intersectional theory in sociology*. https://www.simplypsychology.org/intersectional-theory.html
- Stone, S. (1992). The Empire Strikes Back: a posttranssexual manifesto. *Camera Obscura* (Berkeley, Calif. Online)/Camera Obscura, 10(2), 150–176. https://doi.org/10.1215/02705346-10-2_29-150
- University of Oxford Medical Sciences Divisions. (n.d.). WHAT DOES LGBTQ+ MEAN?

 Medsci. https://www.medsci.ox.ac.uk/study/medicine/harrassment-and-bullying/lgbtq
- Van Treeck, J. (2019). Aan motivatie geen gebrek Een kwalitatieve studie over de weg naar arbeidsparticipatie van Eritrese en Syrische vrouwen [Masterscriptie]. Universiteit Utrecht.
- West, C., & Zimmerman, D. H. (1987a). Doing gender. *Gender & Society*, 1(2), 125–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243287001002002
- West, C., & Zimmerman, D. H. (1987b). Doing gender. *Gender & Society*, 1(2), 125–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243287001002002
- Wikipedia contributors. (2023, December 15). List of LGBT holders of political offices in the Netherlands. Wikipedia.

 https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_LGBT_holders_of_political_offices_in_the_Net herlands
- Wikipedia contributors. (2024, June 2). *Transgender hormone therapy*. Wikipedia. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Transgender_hormone_therapy
- Wittig, M. (1980). One is not born a woman.
- Worthen, M. G. F. (2019). A Rainbow Wave? LGBTQ Liberal Political Perspectives During Trump's Presidency: an Exploration of Sexual, Gender, and Queer Identity Gaps.



Sexuality Research & Social Policy/Sexuality Research and Social Policy, 17(2), 263–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13178-019-00393-1



Appendix 1: Code Book

Axial Codes	Sub-codes
Communication	Respectful communication
	Usage of pronouns
	Respect of pronouns
	Digital communication
Community	Belonging
	Feelings of community
	LGBTQ+ Community
	Online community
Education	Usage of curriculum
	Extra education
	Integration of LGBTQ+ topics
	Teacher training
	School policies
Identity	Diversity
	Gender Identity
	General Identity
	Exploration of identity
	Sexual Orientation
	Transgender identity
	Intersectionality
Personal Circumstances	Personal problems
	Social Geography
	Place of residence
	Family dynamics
	Mental health



Perspectives of Acceptance Acceptance

Inclusivity

Positivity

Social interaction

Stagnation

Support

Politics Right Wing Politics

2023 Dutch elections

General politics

Public policy impact

Appendix 2: Questionnaire

Introduction

- Informal introduction
- Explanation of the research and its purpose
- Personal introduction of the researcher
- Assurance of confidentiality and anonymity
- Consent for participation in the interview
- Explanation of the recording process of the interview (if applicable)

Exploration of Socio-Cultural, Political, and Institutional Factors:

- How would you describe your experience as an LGBTQ individual in the Netherlands?
 - Can you provide specific examples of moments when you felt accepted or excluded?
- Do you notice any progress or decline in the level of acceptance of LGBTQ individuals in the Netherlands?
- Do you experience a difference in acceptance among various LGBTQ+ identities?
 - o If so, in what ways does this difference manifest?



- o What do you think might cause this?
- o Can you provide examples to support your observations?
- What does "emancipation" mean to you in the context of LGBTQ individuals?
 - O Do you see that the current state of LGBTQ emancipation in the Netherlands meets your ideas of emancipation?
 - o On a scale of 0 to 100, how far are we?
- What factors do you see as obstacles to LGBTQ emancipation in the Netherlands?
 - Can you name specific socio-cultural, political, and institutional factors that you believe cause these obstacles?
- How do you think educational institutions, healthcare institutions, and other political and institutional factors affect how LGBTQ individuals feel treated and accepted in the Netherlands?
 - O po you have examples of specific situations where these institutions have played a positive or negative role in promoting the emancipation of LGBTQ individuals?

Addressing System Barriers and Social Attitudes through Policy Initiatives

- Current situation and effectiveness:
 - Which ongoing policies or initiatives do you find most effective in promoting
 LGBTQ emancipation in the Netherlands? Why?
 - Where do you see the biggest shortcomings in current policies in addressing system barriers and social attitudes?
- Recommendations for the future:
 - o If you could implement one concrete policy measure to further promote LGBTQ emancipation, what would it be and why?
 - What challenges do you foresee in implementing this measure, and how can we overcome them?

Analysis of the Influence of Election Campaign Messaging:

- Have you experienced that LGBTQ issues were high on the political agenda during the elections?
 - o How did you notice this or not?
 - o Which LGBTQ issues did you find most prominent during the elections?



- Were there certain issues that remained underexposed?
- Do you believe that the election campaign messaging has had any influence on the social acceptance and emancipation of LGBTQ individuals?
 - o If so, in what ways?

Conclusion

- Thank the participant for their time and insights.
- Ask if they have any additional thoughts or comments to share.
- Emphasize the confidentiality of the interview and provide contact details for further questions or concernss

Appendix 3: Ethical considirations

According to a report on LGBTQ+ (mental) vulnerability by the COC (2013), LGBTQ+ children and youth have increased vulnerability. A large proportion of them are subject to negative experiences at school, at home, at the sports club and/or at work based on sexual orientation, gender identity and expression, and sex characteristics. Based on previous literature, this study makes use of relevant and confidential ways to execute the research in an ethical way manner.

There are 5 main forms of ethical considerations in Qualitative research. The LGBTQ+ foundation created a document which describes these 5 considerations in context of the LGBTQ+ community. This document draws on the ethical principles set out by the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) Framework for Research Ethics (2015). These 5 considerations are: Integrity and Quality, Fully Informing Researchers and Participants, Confidentiality and Anonymity, Avoiding Harm, and Informed Consent.

Consideration 1 focuses on integrity and quality in research. It emphasizes the ethical responsibility of researchers to ensure that their work is of a good standard and adds value to existing knowledge. In context to the LGBTQ+ community this emphasizes the significance of considering the inclusion and representation of LGBT+ communities in research, especially where they are underrepresented. When presenting findings, it is crucial to amplify the voices of LGBT participants rather than speaking on their behalf. (LGBT Foundation, 2023)

Consideration 2, Fully Informing Researchers and Participants, highlights the importance of transparent communication about the research's purpose, methods, and risks to



both researchers and participants. In the context of this research, sensitivity for individuals who are not publicly out as part of the LGBTQ+ community is needed. Choosing a setting that is known with privacy at mind is important. At the start of every interview consent is asked from the participant. In the case of this study, this meant two things: participants were asked if they could give verbal consent before participating in this study right before the interview. The participants were asked if they agree with the the interview and if they consent to the interview being recorded (LGBT Foundation, 2023). The second way consent was ensured was via written consent through an online form. While schuduling interviews via e-mail, participants were sent a link that led to a form, which contained extra information and had users fill out their name, the label they identified within the LGBTQ+ community, and written consent.

Consideration 3 focusses on maintaining confidentiality and anonimity in research. This has the aim of protecting the indetitites of participants. This should lead to a feeling of speaking freely. Another aspec of this consideration is on the safeguarding of vulnerable participants. In context of the LGBTQ+ community handling this with care is essential. Even if the research topic is not directly related to LGBTQ+ identities, not all individuals within the community may feel comfortable disclosing their identity and/or feelings on certain topics. This leads to the consideration that when recruiting for LGBT research through an institution, there is added risk. For instance, a workplace might demand disclosure of participating staff. This would breach confidentiality and anonymity, potentially harming LGBT individuals who might feel unsafe or fear career repercussions if their identity is exposed. At the beginning of the interview we will assure anonimity and confidentiality by replacing the orignal names of the repondents and storing the recorded audiofiles on an encrypted external ssd so the identity of the repondent will be anonymus and confidential. (LGBT Foundation, 2023)

Consideration 4 emphasizes voluntary participation and the absence of coercion. Providing clear information for informed decisions and the ethical duty to ensure all parties are fully informed, particularly in funded projects is mandatory. This consideration states that researchers should ask informed consent allowing participants to withdraw consent anytime. This enables participants to make informed decisions freely. (LGBT Foundation, 2023)

Consideration 5 emphasizes the avoidance of harm in research. This can be either physical, mental, or emotional, and acknowledges that all research carries some level of risk. Potential harm to both participants and researchers should be taken seriously, and measures



should be taken to mitigate it. Even though a 100% guarantee can never been given, while interviewing, enough space is provided for the expression of emotions. While interviewing, inclusive research is used. At the beginning of each interview the pronouns are asked of each individual to accompas the participants gender indetity during the interview. (LGBT Foundation, 2023)